

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Fertig, Michael

Research Report Migration to Germany: Research questions and first results

RWI Materialien, No. 4

Provided in Cooperation with:

RWI – Leibniz-Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung, Essen

Suggested Citation: Fertig, Michael (2003) : Migration to Germany: Research questions and first results, RWI Materialien, No. 4, ISBN 3936454116, Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (RWI), Essen, https://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:101:1-200910131363

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/61160

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Michael Fertig

Migration to Germany

Research Questions and First Results

Heft 4



Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung

Vorstand: Prof. Dr. Christoph M. Schmidt, Ph.D. (Präsident), Prof. Dr. Wim Kösters

Verwaltungsrat: Heinrich Frommknecht (Vorsitzender); Eberhard Heinke, Dr. Dietmar Kuhnt, Dr. Henning Osthues-Albrecht (stellv. Vorsitzende); Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dieter Ameling, Manfred Breuer, Prof. Dr. Walter Eberhard, Prof. Dr. Harald B. Giesel, Marianne Halstrick-Schwenk, Dr. Thomas Köster,

Hartmut Krebs, Rolf Hermann Nienaber, Heinz Putzhammer,

Dr. Günter Sandermann, Dr. Gerd Willamowski

Forschungsbeirat:

Prof. David Card, Ph.D., Prof. Dr. Clemens Fuest, Prof. Dr. Walter Krämer, Prof. Dr. Michael Lechner, Prof. Dr. Till Requate, Prof. Nina Smith, Ph.D., Prof. Dr. Harald Uhlig, Prof. Dr. Josef Zweimüller

RWI : Materialien Heft 4

Herausgeber: Rheinisch-Westfälisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung, Hohenzollernstraße 1/3, 45128 Essen, Tel. 0201/81 49-0 Alle Rechte vorbehalten. Essen 2003 Schriftleitung: Prof. Dr. Christoph M. Schmidt, Ph.D. Redaktionelle Bearbeitung: Joachim Schmidt ISSN 1612-3573 – ISBN 3-936454-11-6

Michael Fertig

Migration to Germany – Research Questions and First Results

RWI : Materialien

Heft 4

Michael Fertig

Migration to Germany

Research Questions and First Results



Bibliografische Information Der Deutschen Bibliothek

Die Deutsche Bibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.ddb.de abrufbar.

ISSN 1612-3573 ISBN 3-936454-11-6

Contents

	Introduction	7
1.	The German Immigration Experience – Current Situation and Historical Development	8
2.	The Conceptual Framework – Three Principal Topics	12
3.	The Current State of Discussion	13
3.1	Migration Decision	13
3.2	Economic Performance	14
3.3	Economic Impact of Immigration and Perception of Foreig-	
	ners	15
4.	Open Research Questions and Contributions of the Thesis	16
4.1	Performance and Perception	16
4.2	Determinants of Immigration	18
4.3	Immigration Policy	21
	Literature	22

List of Tables

Table 1:	Foreign or Foreign-Born Population and Labor Force in Selected European Countries	9
Table 2:	Composition of Non-Citizens in Germany	10
Table 3:	Gross and Net Migration to Germany	11
Table 4:	Immigration of Ethnic Germans from Central and Eastern Europe.	12

Migration to Germany – Research Questions and First Results

Introduction

Germany has been an immigration country for more than 30 years now, although many politicians persistently claim the opposite and many people in Germany are inclined to agree with their assessment. However, it is the actual experience with immigration, and not what people would like to experience nor legal or administrative definition, which qualifies a country as an immigration country. On this grounds it seems safe to argue that any assessment of Germany as "no immigration country" is far from reality. The well-documented (see. e.g. Schmidt 1996; Schmidt, Zimmermann 1992; 1995) history of immigration to Germany since the 1950s clearly suggests the conclusion that post World War II-Germany in fact has been and still is an immigration country. Moreover, the German experience with immigration is not an isolated phenomenon. Since the end of World War II Europe as a whole which was an emigration region in the 19th century has made its way through a transition process to an immigration region (see e.g. Chiswick, Hatton 2001). In the course of this transition process Germany has become the main receiving country within Europe at least in absolute terms.

The aim of this paper is to provide some evidence for this claim and to present some stylized facts on the German immigration record. Furthermore, it will be clarified how research on this experience in economics may be conceptualized in order to provide a common frame of reference for the contributions of this thesis to the received literature. This paper contains the introductory chapter of the author's doctoral thesis "Germany as an Immigration Country – Empirical Evidence" (University Heidelberg, 2002), it shows the structure of this thesis and main results.

Clearly, the immigration experience of Germany poses a large number of research questions which have not been addressed yet. Moreover, all these research questions are of prominent relevance for economic as well as social policy. However, it is naturally beyond the scope of this thesis to provide answers to all or even the majority of these research questions. Contributions necessarily have to remain highly selective. However, it will be argued that all these research questions are intimately related and that a contribution to one of the open questions may hopefully be able to contribute to the research conducted in related areas in the future.

1. The German Immigration Experience – Current Situation and Historical Development

The current situation regarding the population of immigrants in Europe is the result of the variegated and multi-faceted migration experience of this continent after 1945. It may be illustrated by Table 1. Most of the Western European countries display large shares of foreign or foreign born individuals in their population. Furthermore, these individuals also constitute a substantial fraction of the labor force of the respective countries. On average, the share of total population being foreign or foreign-born is 7.4 % (5.6 % without Luxembourg) and the average share in the labor force is 8.2 % (5.2 %) in these countries. Therefore, Germany's share of foreigners in the population and the labor force is remarkably above-average compared to other countries in Western Europe.

Table 2 reports the most current figures for the country-of-citizenship composition of non-citizens living in Germany. The majority of foreigners currently living in Germany are citizens of a European country, with citizens of Turkey building the largest group. Citizens of Turkey and of EU-countries amount to more than 53 % of the stock of foreigners currently residing in Germany. Together with the states of former Yugoslavia these countries represent more than 67 % of the foreign population share. This population stock is the result of a steady immigration of people to Germany since the end of World War II. However, the composition of these immigration flows as well as their magnitude varied substantially over time.

Migrant influx to Germany displayed several peaks during the second half of the 20th century (see e.g. Schmidt, Zimmermann 1992; Zimmermann 1995). In the *first* period, after the Second World War, several million people relocated from Eastern and South-Eastern Europe to what became West and East Germany in 1949. From that time until the dissolution of the Eastern Bloc around 1990, the Eastern part of Germany only received moderate numbers of additional immigrants. In West Germany the years from the end of World War II to the early 1960s were characterized by the post-war migration flows. During the first post-war years, until about 1950, these flows consisted mainly of displaced people of German ethnicity originating in Eastern Europe. Thereafter, West Germany was affected by migration of ethnic Germans from Eastern Europe leaving the Soviet occupation zone in the East having arrived there

Country	Foreign	Population	Foreign Labor Force		
Country –	1 000	share, %	1 000	share, %	
Austria	728	9.0	328	10.0	
Belgium	912	9.0	341	8.1	
Denmark	238	4.7	84	3.0	
Finland	74	1.4	19	0.8	
France ¹	3,597	6.3	1,650	6.3	
Germany	7,314	8.9	2,559	9.1	
Ireland	118	3.2	52	3.5	
Italy	1,096	2.0	332	1.7	
Luxembourg	143	34.1	118	53.8	
Netherlands	680	4.4	218	3.1	
Norway	158	3.6	55	2.6	
Portugal	173	1.7	87	1.8	
Spain	539	1.3	162	1.0	
Sweden	527	6.0	218	5.1	
Switzerland	1,338	19.0	709	17.9	
United Kingdom	1,972	3.4	878	3.4	
Source: OECD (1998)	. – ¹ Figures for 1	990.			

Foreign or Foreign-Born Population and Labor Force in Selected European Countries	5
1996	

from Eastern Europe, and of Germans originating directly from this eastern part of Germany (Schmidt 1996).

The *second* period from 1955 to 1973 was characterized by labor migration within Europe from the Mediterranean to the northern countries and – to a lesser extent – the immigration of labor from overseas. During this time, as a reaction to a perceived shortage of unskilled labor, West Germany pursued a policy of active "guest worker" recruitment from several selected European countries (Italy, Spain, Greece, Turkey, Portugal and Yugoslavia), as well as from Morocco and Tunisia. Thus, in these years immigration to Germany was clearly dominated by demand-oriented migration incentives.

The middle of the 1970s, especially the year 1973, constitutes a fundamental regime switch and the beginning of the *third* period of immigration to Germany. This development was triggered to the largest extent by the first oil crisis and the ensuing economic problems all over the world. In Germany, one of the major reactions to the first oil price shock and the beginning of a recession was that the recruitment of guest workers was stopped and immigration was restrained. Similarly, all across Europe immigration policy was tightened by setting up a broad range of institutional barriers to immigration from *outside* Europe. Only two major channels of legal immigration to Germany remained:

Citizen of	1 000	share, %	
European Countries			
Turkey	1,998.5	27.4	
EU-Countries	1,872.7	25.7	
Yugoslavia	662.5	9.1	
Poland	301.4	4.1	
Croatia	216.8	3.0	
Bosnia	156.3	2.1	
Romania	90.1	1.2	
Hungary	54.4	0.7	
Bulgaria	34.4	0.5	
Non-European Countries			
African Countries	299.3	4.1	
Asian Countries	213.3	2.9	
Australia and Oceania	10.4	0.1	
Stateless and unknown	74.3	1.0	
			RWI
Source: Statistisches Bundesamt	2001.		ESSEN

Composition of Non-Citizens in Germany December 31, 2000

family reunification and applying for asylum. Apparently as a reaction to the suppression of other channels, one could observe a surge in asylum seekers and refugees in this period. On the other hand and in contrast to such outside-barriers the EU and its predecessors fostered *internal* migration in Europe, e.g. by EU-wide acknowledgment of university diplomas and formal training.

The situation again changed drastically after 1989. The *fourth*, most current period of immigration to Germany started at the end of the 1980s with the dissolution of socialism and has led to an increased inflow of people from Eastern Europe. In addition, the civil war in Yugoslavia has triggered a new surge of refugees and asylum seekers migrating to all countries of Western Europe. With the inflow of "ethnic Germans" (*Aussiedler*) from Central and Eastern European countries, a new set of origin countries as well as new cultural and language backgrounds were added to the existing population of migrants in Germany. Today, with the upcoming enlargement of the European Union towards these Central and Eastern European countries, the extension of freedom of movement regulations to the prospective EU members is a heavily debated issue.

The most current experience with immigration to and emigration from Germany is summarized in Table 3. As outlined above, over the years many people immigrated to Germany, but there was also substantial outmigration. On average, between 1980 and 1999 around 980,300 individuals immigrated to Ger-

Year —	Gros	ss Inflow	Net Inflow
rear	1 000	% from Europe	1 000
1980	767.8	80.0	301.5
1985	511.6	68.2	55.0
1987	645.3	76.8	214.6
1980	1,185.5	84.3	604.5
1991	1,199.0	82.2	602.5
1992	1,502.2	77.5	782.1
1993	1,277.4	73.8	462.1
1994	1,082.6	69.8	315.0
1995	1,096.0	69.6	397.9
1996	959.7	67.1	282.2
1997	840.6	65.9	93.6
1998	802.5	68.6	47.1
1999	874.0	70.0	202.0
rce: Statistis	ches Bundesamt 2001.		

Gross and Net Migration to Germany
1980 to 1999

many p.a., yielding a *net* inflow of roughly 335,000 people per year. The major share of this inflow came from European countries and a substantial number of migrants eventually staying in Germany consisted of ethnic Germans. Table 4 demonstrates that the inflow of ethnic Germans builds a substantial fraction of the (presumably net) inflows to Germany, although these numbers are declining in absolute terms over time.

To summarize, since the end of World War II immigration has been a dominant factor for the German society and in all likelihood it will continue to be one in the future. This insight found expression on August 03, 2001 in the proposed bill by Otto Schily, the German Minister of the Interior, that intends to give Germany its first regulated immigration system ever. The proposed bill is motivated by the insight that "Germany is an immigration country" (Otto Schily) and that the country has to engage itself in the international competition for high-skilled workers due to its own economic interests. One major change to the existing law is the intention to actively regulate immigration by combining the work and residence permits with a point system for the selection of high-skilled immigrants.

This proposal triggered a heavy dispute among the political parties as well as in the public regarding many details of the intended regulation of future immigration to Germany. It is not surprising that some of these debates completely went astray, e.g. on the economic impact of immigration for the German labor market, since many questions related to the causes and consequences of immi-

1990 to 2000							
	1990	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
Total	397,075	217,898	177,751	134,419	103,080	104,916	95,615
from							
Poland	113,253	1,677	1,175	687	488	428	484
Former SU	147,455	209,409	172,181	131,895	101,550	103,559	94,558
Romania	107,189	6,519	4,284	1,777	1,005	855	547
Soruce: Statistis	sches Bundes	samt 2001.					RWI ESSEN

Immigration of Ethnic Germans from Central and Eastern Europe

gration are still not answered. Current political developments, especially in the aftermath of September 11, 2001, suggest that the discussion on the adequate regulation of future immigration will continue to stay on top of the political agenda for quite a while.

These stylized facts of the German immigration experience as well as the current political developments may well serve as the departure point for many questions of economic migration research. Indeed, the 1990s witnessed a considerable amount of research addressing various topics of the German immigration record. Since the author's thesis aims at contributing to this literature the succeeding paragraphs will briefly outline a conceptual framework of economic migration research. Furthermore, a brief overview on the state of the discussion on these topics for the case of Germany is provided. A more detailed survey of the relevant literature will be provided in each of the chapters of the thesis. The following discussion is supposed to shed some light on open research areas and to formulate unsolved research questions. Some of these questions will be addressed afterwards.

2. The Conceptual Framework – Three Principal Topics

Naturally, there is no unique, all-encompassing theoretical framework linking together all aspects of the different topics of economic migration research. However, it is possible to outline a conceptual framework which provides the brackets for the discussion of the interrelated and complex issues of economic migration research and for the following studies. Specifically, economic research concerning migration issues can be conceptualized into three broad fields, each of them interrelated with each other. All these research areas carry important implications for immigration policy, again reflecting an intimate relationship between them. These fields may be described most sensibly by the following set of research questions:

1. Which factors determine the *decision* to migrate, i.e. which are the motives or driving forces behind observed immigration flows? Naturally, since the

decision to migrate is in all likelihood the outcome of a systematic process, the characteristics of those who decide to relocate from their original home to a new destination are hardly a random sample of the indigenous population of either country. Understanding the composition of migration flows seems therefore to be an important prerequisite for the analysis both of migrant performance and the impact of immigration, that is the remaining two aspects of economic migration research.

- 2. Which factors determine the *economic performance* of immigrants in the destination country, i.e. do migrants' wages, employment prospects or the risk to depend on welfare payments converge or diverge to those of comparable natives as the duration of residence unfolds and what are the reasons for these developments? What structural explanation can be offered for the observed convergence or divergence patterns, i.e. is it assimilation or discrimination? A related aspect are the determinants of the *perception* of as well as the *attitudes* towards immigrants by the native population in the destination country.
- 3. Which factors determine the *economic impact* of immigration on the destination country as a whole or on the population indigenous to the destination country, i.e. does immigration, for instance, exhibit a significant impact on the age structure of the destination country's society or does it reduce the wages/employment prospects of, say, low-skilled natives or resident migrants of preceding entry cohorts, and if so, what are the mechanisms at work?

These three areas are interrelated with each other and exhibit a close connection to immigration policy. Clearly, the composition of immigration flows can, at least in principle, be regulated by different policy regimes yielding a different skill or country-of-origin mix of observable inflows. Since formal and informal human capital endowments determine the economic performance of immigrants in the destination country and the transferability of these endowments may vary with the country of origin, immigration policy plays a decisive role for the economic performance of immigrants. Moreover, economic prospects of immigrants, the impact of immigration on the destination countries economy and the perception of migrants by the natives are certainly closely related and might exhibit repercussions on the decision of potential migrants to enter the country.

3. The Current State of Discussion

3.1 Migration Decision

For the case of Germany evidence for the determinants of immigration is quite scarce, and if available, only at the aggregate level. The traditional literature on explaining aggregate migration flows (see e.g. Harris, Todaro 1970 for a

seminal study) usually departs at differential developments of economic activity (per capita), unemployment rates and other socio-demographic factors, such as geographic distance, in a set of origin countries/regions compared to one destination. However, pinning down any stable relationship between these economic factors and immigration activities has been notoriously difficult throughout this literature. This has made the creation of a satisfactory connection between the in parts overwhelmingly sophisticated economic theory of the migration decision (see e.g. Stark 1991; Berninghaus, Seifert-Vogt 1991) and the scarce evidence for the validity of its predictions a very frustrating endeavor.

Vogler/Rotte (2001) escape from this dilemma – which also plagues their study – by altering their focus in an innovative way: Their analysis explicitly addresses the issue whether political oppression in the country of origin fosters the decision of potential emigrants, with particular emphasis on the role that the current state of economic development plays for this process. Karras/Chiswick (1999) utilize pooled cross section-time series data to analyze aggregate migration flows to Germany for a sample of 17 countries of origin and a time period covering 1964–88. The authors perform two pooled OLS regressions of the net migration rate on different sets of ad hoc chosen explanatory variables. The explanatory power of these variables is rather weak which may be due to the not very convincing estimation procedure.

3.2 Economic Performance

Skills play a dominant role for immigrant performance, whether acquired in formal curriculae as secondary or post-secondary schooling and vocational training, or informally as experience in the labor market, or as manifestation of intrinsic personal traits such as cognitive ability or motivation. Since the seminal papers of Chiswick (1978) and Borjas (1985; 1987), several empirical analyses for the case of Germany address the issue of wage performance of the guest workers of the 1960s and 1970s in the German labor market of the 1980s and early 1990s, all using, in principle, the same source of micro data, the *German Socio-Economic Panel (GSOEP)* (see e.g. Dustmann 1993; Schmidt 1997).

On balance, these papers demonstrate that in the German labor market formal skills play a decisive role for immigrant wage earnings – for instance, Schmidt (1997) concludes that those immigrants who received their schooling and post-secondary education in Germany achieve earnings parity with native workers, while the typical first-generation migrant from the "guest worker" countries lags some 20 % behind the average native worker in terms of wages. Dustmann (1993) demonstrates that the distinction of permanent and temporary migrants might be important for the question of earnings dynamics. All in all, it is the tremendous importance of formal skills for labor market success that characterizes all these results.

3.3 Economic Impact of Immigration and Perception of Foreigners

While relative individual economic performance is a matter of direct comparison of an appropriate outcome measure between the individuals of interest – migrants – and a comparison group – natives, the economic impact of immigration unfolds in an indirect fashion via market reactions, and is therefore much more complex as an object of investigation. The empirical challenge is to isolate immigration induced shifts in labor supply which can be treated as if they were set in an ideal experiment, in other words as exogenous. All these analyses face the common problem of non-experimental research: the extent of additional immigration does not vary randomly across time and space, as in a laboratory experiment, but is rather the outcome of systematic forces.

The literature has proceeded in different directions to address this endogeneity problem. Altonji/Card (1991) and LaLonde/Topel (1991; 1997), for instance, pursue the idea of instrumental variable estimation using previous immigrant density as their instrumental variable. Card (1990) for the so-called Mariel boatlift and Hunt (1992) for the Algeria-France migration of the early 1960s exploit historically unique events in order to create a "natural experiment". Typically, these studies tend to conclude that the crowding out effects of additional immigration on most native workers are of minor importance. For Germany, several empirical studies exist which proceed along similar lines (see e.g. Bauer 1998; DeNew, Zimmermann 1994; Haisken-DeNew 1996; Pischke, Velling 1997). On balance, these studies tend to display quantitatively minor effects of additional immigration on the economic outcomes of the indigenous population, but considerable controversy remains as to their precise magnitude.

Recently, attitudes towards minorities have become an issue of concern in the economic literature. For the case of United Kingdom, Dustmann/Preston (2000a) using several waves of the *British Social Attitude Survey* (*BSAS*) analyze the effect of local concentration of ethnic minority groups on the attitudes of native respondents towards these minorities controlling for individual characteristics of the respondents as well as for regional labor market conditions. Their results suggest that a higher concentration of ethnic minorities tends to increase hostility of native respondents towards these groups. Dustmann/Preston (2000b), again using the *BSAS* dataset, analyze the relationship between racist attitudes, as well as labor market and welfare considerations on the opinions of native respondents towards future immigration (restrictions) for different immigrant groups in a multi-factor model. One key feature of

their paper is the provision of a formal treatment of identification issues in such a framework.

A contribution for the case of Germany is Gang/Rivera-Batiz (1994). Using the Eurobarometer survey of 1988, the authors aim at examining the effect of the presence of foreigners on the employment status of native Germans and the attitudes towards foreigners in Germany in relation to different labor market situations of respondents. Bauer et al. (2000) using the 1995 wave of the International Social Survey Program (ISSP) provide a cross country comparison with a special focus on the influence of immigration policy on attitudes towards minorities. For the 1996 wave of the Allgemeine Bevölkerungsumfrage der Sozialwissenschaften (ALLBUS) several empirical studies are collected in Alba et al. (2000). Examples are Bergmann/Erb (2000), Lüdemann (2000) and Schmidt/Heyder (2000). These papers have in common that they all aim at explaining some selected items recorded in the ALLBUS by using other opinions towards minorities as explanatory factors, without taking into account the potential endogeneity or simultaneity arising from such an approach. All in all, these studies paint a variegated picture of the perception of minorities by native Germans.

4. Open Research Questions and Contributions of the Thesis

This section outlines some of the open research questions which can be derived from the above exposition and clarifies the following contributions to the received literature. Furthermore, main results as well as the their implications will be summarized.

4.1 Performance and Perception

From this brief overview on economic migration research it should have become transparent that contemporaneous migration research – with its focus on the US experience – almost exclusively rests on supply-side reasoning when explaining in terms of an economic model how immigrant skill composition and economic performance changes over time (see e.g. Borjas 1991). The international literature on immigrant performance mainly concerns the still unsolved Chiswick – Borjas debate on immigrant quality in the US context. Both the rather different history of immigration to Germany and the certainly distinct nature of the labor markets in both countries suggest that a simple translation of US results to Germany is impossible.

Most of the received literature analyzes the economic performance of *first-generation* migrants only, and immigration to the "classical" immigration countries, the United States, Canada, and Australia has typically taken center stage in this research. For Germany, the wage performance of the "guest

worker" immigrants has been in the focus of empirical research. Yet, the necessity to integrate the growing communities of new immigrants and native-born ethnic minorities – the so-called *second generation* of migrants – into the society and the labor market poses a large number of research questions.

While the educational attainment of this second generation is researched by Riphahn (2000), other aspects of this immigrant group remain widely disregarded. Specifically, the degree and determinants of the welfare dependence of immigrants from different generations has been an unsolved issue. Furthermore, the perception of this phenomenon as well as the general attitude towards immigrants and foreigners in Germany by native Germans has not been on the research agenda yet.

Chapter 2 of the author's thesis, therefore, provides a snapshot portrait of the immigrant population currently residing in Germany, with a special emphasis on the distinction of first- and second-generation migrants. For this purpose a detailed characterization of both immigrant generations by demographic and socio-economic characteristics is provided, together with a detailed review of the received economic literature. Most importantly, it will become transparent that there are considerable differences between both immigrants and natives as well as among the different immigrant generations themselves.

The chapter proceeds to offer its own contribution to the literature, by addressing one of the most contentious issues in the current debate, the welfare dependence of migrants. The findings on the determining factors of the moderate risk of migrants to depend on public assistance payments is contrasted with the perception of immigrants by native Germans using two complementary datasets. Furthermore, some evidence on important correlates of the deviations between facts and perceptions of migrant welfare dependence are derived and it will be discussed which explanatory factors might be responsible for this phenomenon.

It will become transparent that the empirical evidence on the divergence of the perception of immigrants by natives from what we really know suggests that comprehensive education programs and initiatives to ascertain that this evidence is becoming more transparent to the general public may provide the basis for a more realistic perception of what is a large, albeit heterogeneous population group in Germany.

In chapter 3 the determinants of the perception of minorities by native Germans are pursued further. It contributes to the received literature by using a structural model to explain the answers on a set of questions regarding the perception of minorities by native Germans. In this model it is assumed that in addition to observable individual characteristics, there exists an underlying unobserved attitude towards minorities which drives the distribution of answers by native respondents. This latent variable in turn is assumed to be shaped by a set of observable socio-economic characteristics of the individuals. It is the direction and magnitude of these effects on the unobservable factor which are the primary objects of interest.

In order to estimate this model it is necessary to impose appropriate identification restrictions. The validity of these assumptions is decisive for the interpretation of the results. However, since these restrictions are non-testable they have to be assumed to hold *a priori*. Naturally, without such identification assumptions a well-structured analysis of the wealth of information provided by opinion surveys is impossible.

This analysis, therefore, assumes that all utilized questions are, in principle, able to "extract" the true opinion of respondents, although to varying degree. To achieve this aim, one has to forego all attempts to extract the level of xeno-phobia or antisemitism in a population of respondents, though. All attempts at such an analysis in a single-country study must fail.

The estimation results for the structural coefficients derived on the basis of the invoked identification assumptions suggest quite different conclusions on the explanatory power of observable socio-economic characteristics than what one would conclude from the (reduced form) analysis of a single question alone. Essentially, the only variable able to reliably explain the heterogeneity of the unobserved component of the perception of foreigners and Jews among native Germans is the level of individual education. Popular suggestions for an explanation of negative attitudes towards minorities like the labor market situation of a respondent or his/her age turn out to be insignificant as soon as one is willing to analyze *all* relevant questions.

4.2 Determinants of Immigration

Furthermore, there is also only little research on the decision of immigrants to enter Germany. At the present time no individual level study has been conducted, probably due to missing data since a serious empirical study would require micro data at both origin and destination country. Moreover, even on the aggregate level there is only a small number of studies attempting at the explanation of observed migration flows to Germany. Finally, the magnitude of expected immigration to Germany in the course of the upcoming enlargement of the European Union towards Central and Eastern Europe is an under-researched topic as well. Chapters 4 and 5, therefore, aim at the identification of the driving forces behind observed migration flows to Germany and at the measurement of their impact on these flows. The ultimate goal of this endeavor is the provision of forecasts of the expected migration potential from Central and Eastern Europe. In the received literature empirical analyses of international migration typically rest on aggregate data on (gross or net) emigration from a set of origin countries to a single destination. These papers usually formulate a regression model to explain observable migration flows by a set of merely economic variables. Usually, this model specification and the concrete choice of explanatory factors is more or less based on microeconomic considerations relating the individual decision to migrate or not to rational economic behavior in the context of utility or income maximization. However, the way these variables enter the specification is completely ad hoc.

The *counterfactual* question implicitly asked by such an approach is what would have happened to immigration flows from a specific country if one or several of the explanatory factors were different. Unfortunately, one only observes a country at any point in time with a single specific configuration of explanatory variables, making the decision to use a regression model a method of choice. This decision, however, is not innocuous. Any particular specification of this model necessarily invokes a set of *a priori* identification assumptions beyond the (log-) linearity of migration rates, enabling the analyst to construct this unobserved counterfactual situation. These identification assumptions are *assumed* to be true for the purposes of the analysis and their validity is not reflected in the usual measures of sampling variability (Schmidt 1999). Moreover, more restrictive assumptions will generally reduce the remaining uncertainty *within* sample if these assumptions were correct. However, the reduction of uncertainty *out-of-sample*.

In chapter 4 a pooled cross section-time series dataset is utilized to estimate the reduced form of a theoretically derived model of the determinants of aggregate immigration flows to Germany. Within the framework of this model it is possible to distinguish between short-run and long-run determinants of observed migration flows. The estimation results suggest that both short-run as well as long-run factors play a substantial role in explaining immigration to Germany within sample. It turns out that the underlying structure of observed immigration flows is quite accurately reflected by this model. Therefore, the estimated long-run coefficients of the model are used to forecast expected immigration flows from the prospective EU-member countries of Central and Eastern Europe. Under the assumption of structural invariance across time and space as well as for a set of different assumptions regarding the development of the economic variables in the model these scenarios predict a moderate increase of immigration to Germany, especially for the first-round accession candidates. The predictions are far too small to justify the large concern expressed in the public, the media or by some politicians.

Chapter 5 pursues this issue further and emphasizes, that the task of assessing migration potential and predicting future migration flows requires strong

identification assumptions to hold. This is particularly relevant when following the usual approach of fitting a relatively saturated specification to the observed migration data, typically including a substantial number of economic variables on the right-hand side of the regression. In addition to the necessary assumptions of temporal stability of the behavioral relationships, one has to have a relatively precise notion about the development of these conditioning variables in the future. Unfortunately, economic variables like GDP growth rates or unemployment rates, are notoriously difficult to predict.

Moreover, whenever a new origin region enters the scene, the extrapolation exercise has to extend from predictions out of the sample horizon to predictions out of the *spatial* realm of experience. This requirement is an almost prohibitive challenge to any saturated model of aggregate migration intensity. This chapter, therefore, departs from the received migration literature – whose emphasis is typically on the explanation of migration activity, not its prediction into the future – and pursues a very parsimonious specification of migration experience. Its formulation explicitly allows for persistent economic and non-economic differences to be captured by a set of country-specific random effects which, together with a time-specific and a white noise component drive the fluctuation of migration rates around its average across time and space. The relative magnitude of these unobserved orthogonal variance components leads naturally to a discussion of the prediction problem raised by EU enlargement.

Most importantly, the approach chosen in this chapter emphasizes the crucial role of demographics for what is primarily a demographic process. It is the size of the population in the origin region, and particularly the size of the young population which is of principal importance for the expected migration flows. Large fluctuations in economic differences would exert little impact on migration activity, if the population in the source regions were to be old, a simple truth that seems to be neglected in many migration forecasts. Thus, in combining the estimates from our parsimoniously specified model for the aggregate migration rate with the projected population size and structure in the prospective EU member countries, in this chapter the fact that demographic circumstances can be predicted relatively precisely into the future is exploited.

It is demonstrated, that prospective net immigration would be of almost negligible magnitude if the new EU members were to display the emigration behavior to Germany that has characterized the typical origin country during the (high-immigration) post-WW II era. If, by contrast, they were to display a substantially more pronounced emigration propensity, future net immigration could be much larger, albeit still relatively moderate when considering the figures circulating in the public debate on this issue.

4.3 Immigration Policy

Finally, at the present time, it remains unclear how particularly the most recent cohorts of immigrants were integrated, how integration success differed from that experienced by earlier immigrant cohorts, and how this process was influenced by institutional arrangements and explicit integration policy. Moreover, the interaction of policy with observed and unobserved characteristics of the migrant influx remains widely unresearched. In the light of the current political developments in European Union and the ongoing discussion on the future of immigration to Germany there is certainly a need for a serious evaluation of immigration and integration policy measures. From the perspective of a country like Germany, serving as a potential destination for people willing to emigrate from their country of origin, a rational regulation of immigration is of central concern for future economic prospects. An ageing society with its consequences for the social security system, an increasing demand for high-skilled labor as well as the prevention of a massive inflow of illegal immigrants will inevitably move the issue of the "best" immigration policy into the center of attention. Unfortunately, economic research on this question has not been able to provide a completely convincing answer.

Chapter 6 of the author's thesis outlines a conceptual framework for the assessment of the effect of a specific immigration policy by discussing the necessary elements of such a formal evaluation study. Based on the ideas developed in the literature on the evaluation of active labor market policy, this chapter provides a framework for the evaluation of key elements of immigration policy. To this end, the fundamental ingredients of evaluating policy interventions are explained and the specific case of *immigration* policy is analyzed. It becomes transparent that the evaluation of the effect of immigration policy is a particularly complex task since it requires unusually strong assumptions to hold *a priori*. These assumptions and possible reasons for their failure are discussed in detail. It is clarified that any violation of these assumptions renders the interpretation of the policy effects invalid. Furthermore, these insights are utilized for a critical review of the received literature.

The scarce empirical evidence available at the moment suggests that the regulation of immigration focussing exclusively on the selection of migrants according to a country's current need for specific skills is not sufficient to guarantee that immigrants are successful on the destination countries labor market. Such a policy runs the risk of neglecting important aspects of the long-run determinants of immigrants' economic success, i.e. the ability to cope with a changing economic environment.

The international empirical evidence, furthermore, suggests that a rational and, therefore, foresighted immigration policy should be able to signal reliably that it is in the vital interest of the destination country to admit immigrants with a long-run perspective in the country. It is, therefore, necessary to provide incentives for immigrants to invest into destination-country-specific human capital. In this endeavor it does, for instance, not seem helpful to award work permissions on a temporary basis *a priori*, as it is done for the so-called "green card" migrants in Germany, or to restrict family reunification tightly as it is discussed for the new German immigration law.

Literature

- Alba, R., P. Schmidt and M. Wasmer (2000), *Deutsche und Ausländer: Freunde, Fremde* oder Feinde? Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag.
- Altonji, J.G. and D. Card (1991), The Effects of Immigration on the Labor Market Outcomes of Less-skilled Natives. In: Abowd, J.M. and R.B. Freeman (eds.), *Immigration, Trade, and the Labor Market*. Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 201–234.
- Bauer, Th.K. (1998), Arbeitsmarkteffekte der Migration und Einwanderungspolitik: Eine Analyse für die Bundesrepublik Deutschland (Labor Market Effects of Migration and Migration Policy: An Analysis for Germany). Heidelberg: Physika.
- Bauer, Th.K., M. Lofstrom and K.F. Zimmermann (2000), Immigration Policy, Assimilation of Immigrants and Natives' Sentiments Towards Immigrants: Evidence From 12 OECD-Countries. *Swedish Economic Policy*, 7, 11–53.
- Bergmann, W. and R. Erb (2000), Antisemitismus in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland 1996. In: Alba, R., P. Schmidt and M. Wasmer (eds.), *Deutsche und Ausländer: Freunde, Fremde oder Feinde?* Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag, 439–483.
- Berninghaus, S. and H.-G. Seifert-Vogt (1991), International Migration under Incomplete Information. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Borjas, G.J. (1985), Assimilation, Changes in Cohort Quality, and the Earnings of Immigrants. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 3, 463–489.
- Borjas, G.J. (1987), Self-Selection and the Earnings of Immigrants. American Economic Review, 77, 531–553.
- Borjas, G.J. (1991), Immigration and Self-Selection. In: Abowd, J.M. and R.B. Freeman (eds.), *Immigration, Trade, and the Labor Market*. Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 29–76.
- Card, D. (1990), The Impact of the Mariel Boatlift on the Miami Labor Market. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 43, 245–57.
- Chiswick, B.R. (1978), The Effect of Americanization on the Earnings of Foreign-Born Men. *Journal of Political Economy*, 86, 897–921.
- Chiswick, B.R. and T. Hatton (2001), International Migration and the Integration of Labor Markets. Forthcoming in: Bordo, M.D., A.M. Taylor and J.G. Williamson (eds.), *Globalisation in Historical Perspective*. NBER Conference Volume, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- DeNew, J. and K.F. Zimmermann (1994), Native Wage Impacts of Foreign Labor: A Random Effects Panel Analysis. *Journal of Population Economics*, 7, 177–192.
- Dustmann, Ch. (1993), Earnings Adjustments of Temporary Migrants. Journal of Population Economics, 6, 153–168.
- Dustmann, Ch. and I. Preston (2000a), Attitudes to Ethnic Minorities, Ethnic Context and Location Decisions. *Economic Journal*, 111, 353–373.
- Dustmann, Ch. and I. Preston (2000b), Racial and Economic Factors in Attitudes to Immigration, *IZA Discussion Paper* No. 190.
- Gang, I.N. and F.L. Rivera-Batiz (1994), Unemployment and Attitudes Towards Foreigners in Germany. In: Steinmann, G. and R.E. Ulrich (eds.), *The Economic Consequences of Immigration to Germany*, Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag, 121–154.
- Haisken-DeNew, J.P. (1996), Migration and the Inter-Industry Wage Structure in Germany, Heidelberg/New York: Springer Verlag.
- Harris, J.R. and M.P. Todaro (1970), Migration, Unemployment and Development: A Two-Sector Analysis. *American Economic Review*, 60, 126–142.
- Hunt, J. (1992), The Impact of the 1962 Repatriates from Algeria on the French Labor Market. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 45, 556–572.
- Karras, G. and C.U. Chiswick (1999), Macroeconomic Determinants of Migration. The Case of Germany: 1964–1988. *International Migration*, 37, 657-677.
- LaLonde, R.J. and R.H. Topel (1991), Labor Market Adjustments to Increased Immigration. In: Abowd, J.M. and R.B. Freeman (eds.), *Immigration, Trade, and the Labor Market*. Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 167–199.
- Lalonde, R.J. and R.H. Topel (1997), Economic Impact of International Migration and the Economic Performance of Migrants. In: M. Rosenzweig and O. Stark (eds.), *Handbook of Population and Family Economics* (Handbooks in Economics, vol. 14.) Amsterdam, New York and Oxford: Elsevier Science, North-Holland, 799–850.
- Lüdemann, Ch. (2000), Die Erklärung diskriminierender Einstellungen gegenüber Ausländern, Juden und Gastarbeitern in Deutschland – Eine Test der allgemeinen Attitüdentheorie von Fishbein. In: R. Alba, P. Schmidt and M. Wasmer (eds.), *Deutsche und Ausländer: Freunde, Fremde oder Feinde?* Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag, 439–483.
- OECD (ed.) (1998), Trends in International Migration. Paris.
- Pischke, J.-St. and J. Velling (1997), Employment Effects of Immigration to Germany: An Analysis Based on Local Labor Markets. *Review of Economics & Statistics*. 79, 594–604.
- Riphahn, R.T. (2000), Dissimilation? The Educational Attainment of Second Generation Immigrants. *IZA Discussion Paper*.
- Schmidt, Ch.M. (1996), German Economic Growth After the Demise of Socialism: The Potential Contribution of East-West Migration. Jahrbuch für Wirtschaftsgeschichte, 1996/2, 109–126.
- Schmidt, Ch.M. (1997), Immigrant Performance in Germany: Labor Earnings of Ethnic German Migrants and Foreign Guest-Workers. *The Quarterly Review of Economics* and Finance, 37, 379–397.

- Schmidt, Ch.M. (1999), Knowing What Works The Case For Rigorous Program Evaluation. *IZA Discussion Paper* No. 77.
- Schmidt, Ch.M. and K.F. Zimmermann (1992), Migration Pressure in Germany: Past and Future. In: K.F. Zimmermann (ed.): *Migration and Economic Development*. Berlin: Springer, 207–236.
- Schmidt, P. and A. Heyder (2000), Wer neigt eher zu autoritärer Einstellung und Ethnozentrismus, die Ost- oder die Westdeutschen? – Eine Analyse mit Strukturgleichungsmodellen. In: R. Alba, P. Schmidt and M. Wasmer (eds.), *Deutsche und Ausländer: Freunde, Fremde oder Feinde*? Wiesbaden: Westdeutscher Verlag, 439–483.
- Stark, O. (1991), The Migration of Labor. Cambridge: Basil Blackwell.
- Vogler, M. and R. Rotte (2001), The Effects of Development on Migration: Theoretical Issues and New Empirical Evidence. *Journal of Population Economics*, 13, 485–508.
- Zimmermann, K.F. (1995), Tackling the European Migration Problem. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 9, 45–62.